          1

          2  CITY COUNCIL

          3

             CITY OF NEW YORK

          4

             -------------------------------x

          5

             THE TRANSCRIPT OF THE MINUTES

          6

                       of the

          7

             COMMITTEE ON PARKS, RECREATION,

          8  CULTURAL AFFAIRS And INTERNATIONAL

             INTERGROUP RELATIONS

          9

             -------------------------------x

         10

         11                 November 4, 1999

                            Start:  1:05 p.m.

         12                 Recess: 2:20 p.m.

         13                 City Hall

                            Committee Room

         14                 New York, New York

         15

                  B E F O R E:

         16

                         WENDELL FOSTER

         17                                Chairperson,

         18

                         COUNCIL MEMBERS:   Morton Povman

         19                                 Kenneth Fisher

                                            Annette Robinson

         20                                 Madeline Provenzano

                                            Philip Reed

         21                                 Martin Golden

                                            Tracy Boyland

         22                                 Bill Perkins

         23

         24       LEGAL-EASE COURT REPORTING SERVICES, INC.

                         217 Broadway -  Suite 511

         25              New York, New York 10007

                              (800) 756-3410

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            2

          1

          2  A P P E A R A N C E S

          3

             Jean Griffith-Sandiford

          4

             George Prezioso

          5

             Monsignor Patrick O'Toole

          6  St. Patrick's Church

          7  Lisa Hackett

             North General Hospital

          8

             Elsie McCabe

          9

             Livingston Francis

         10  Chairman, Board of Trustees

             North General Hospital

         11

             Patricia Norman

         12  North General Hospital

         13  Thomas Long

             North General Hospital

         14

             Ernest Baptiste

         15  North General Hospital

         16  Carl Glassman

             The Tribecca Trib

         17

             Ann Temkin

         18  Philadelphia Museum of Art

         19  Frank Stella

         20  Kirk Varnedoe

         21  Bruce Ehrmann

         22  Andrew Jackson

             Langston Hughes Library

         23

         24

         25

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            3

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: My name is

          3  Wendell Foster. I am Chairman of the Committee on

          4  Parks, and we are here today to have a hearing on

          5  some legislation that we hope to get passed or at

          6  least get a hearing on. I welcome you to this

          7  Chamber, and the lady who is preparing the name tags

          8  is the one that keeps us in line, with a half of a

          9  dozen other sergeants. And to my left is Council

         10  Member Golden who has a bill on today, and the lady

         11  coming in who is eating, and selfishly not offering

         12  anyone any, and she gave the word she must leave

         13  early, so I told her that is her problem, not ours,

         14  and it is Tracy Boyland from Brooklyn.

         15                 Walking in here is our legal expert,

         16  Mr. Povman, Council Member Povman from Queens, and

         17  to my immediate right is my Counsel Ira S. Pers, and

         18  to his right is Mr. Frank Neely, and you are here,

         19  so we welcome you for your presence.

         20                 We are going to consider first

         21  Council Member Golden, if you would like to go

         22  first.

         23                 How soon do you have to leave?

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: Very soon.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Is it all right
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          2  to let her go?

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Yes, sir.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: All right. Simply

          5  because in this day of the female we have got to be

          6  careful, especially --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: Precious

          8  female.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: You are right.

         10  Precious female, she tells us that all the time.

         11                 All right, Council Member Boyland,

         12  will you tell us about your Intro, please.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: Today is a

         14  very important day, because we will be working on

         15  the renaming of a street, Pacific Avenue, to Michael

         16  Griffith. We are joined here by his mother, Ms. Jean

         17  Griffith-Sandiford, who will be coming before us at

         18  a later date.

         19                 As you know, Michael Griffith was a

         20  good child, a kid who was accosted by a dozen young

         21  men armed with baseball bats outside a pizzeria on

         22  Cross Bay Boulevard. You may have remembered that

         23  this was an incident that shocked the world.

         24                 These young men chased Michael and

         25  Sedrick Sandiford and Timmothy, shouting racial

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            5

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS

          2  attacks toward them. Michael was brutally beaten

          3  with a baseball bat and was slammed by a car as he

          4  tried to cross Shore Parkway.

          5                 My colleagues, the death of Michael

          6  should not be in vain. We have to remind our

          7  children that it is not good to kill because someone

          8  is not of the same color or skin or religion as

          9  them.

         10                 We have to educate our children about

         11  other ethnic groups, especially if we are living in

         12  such a diverse City as New York City. And also, I

         13  ask that my colleagues and also the viewing audience

         14  to support the Griffith family.

         15                 The community and everyone who

         16  believes that racial intolerance should not be the

         17  answer, and that racial violence will not be

         18  tolerated within our community.

         19                 I ask that Ms. Griffith at some point

         20  come forward, and she will express the feeling she

         21  has now. She has been really in the forefront of

         22  racial and ethnic issues at this moment, as well as

         23  involved a lot of our elected officials and

         24  community leaders in coming together to join to stop

         25  the injustices that are prevailing amongst our young
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          2  people and in our communities.

          3                 I ask that my colleagues support this

          4  renaming of the street and also join us as we will

          5  be coming together again to discuss this issue on

          6  another level.

          7                 Thank you very much.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you,

          9  Council Member. Ms. Griffith, and other witnesses,

         10  are there other witnesses? If you have something to

         11  say could you come, please?

         12                 Jean Griffith. Is there anyone else

         13  here to testify on behalf of this?

         14                 Could you just tell us your name,

         15  please. Sergeant, is the button on, please?

         16                 Just tell us who you are, for the

         17  record. Just give us your name and then give us your

         18  testimony.

         19                 MS. GRIFFITH-SANDIFORD: Good

         20  afternoon, everyone. I stand here today to give my

         21  testimony on my son, Michael Griffith, who was

         22  killed in Howard Beach on the 20th of December.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Just pull the

         24  microphone closer, Ms. Griffith.

         25                 Ms. Sandiford, pull the microphone a
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          2  little bit closer to you and speak directly into it.

          3                 MS. GRIFFITH-SANDIFORD: Okay.

          4                 Good afternoon, everyone. I stand

          5  here today to give my testimony on my son Michael

          6  Griffith, who was killed in Howard Beach on the

          7  night of December the 20th, 1986.

          8                 My son Michael was beaten and chased

          9  by a gang of white teenagers to the Belt Parkway,

         10  when a coming car struck him and killed him.

         11                 Therefore, I am requesting that the

         12  sign named "Pacific Street" shall be changed to

         13  Michael Griffith Street. I am asking for this change

         14  so that my son's death will not be in vain. Also,

         15  that young people would learn --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Take your time.

         17  If you can't finish, we understand where you are

         18  coming from.

         19                 MS. GRIFFITH-SANDIFORD: Also that

         20  young people would learn to live with one another.

         21  We are all God's children, so we should not hate or

         22  fear of anyone, but learn to love and live in unity.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         24  much for coming in before us. We know it took a

         25  great deal of courage, and while I have never lost a
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          2  child, I can anticipate what it would be like. Your

          3  son was so viciously murdered.

          4                 Thank you very much, Ms. Sandiford.

          5                 MS. GRIFFITH-SANDIFORD: Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: We will consider

          7  this. Thank you very much.

          8                 Are there any questions by any

          9  member, or comments by any Council Member?

         10                 All right, just be seated, Ms.

         11  Sandiford. The Sergeant will take you back. Thank

         12  you. That was Jean Griffith-Sandiford. Thank you

         13  very much for coming.

         14                 Council Member Golden, would you tell

         15  us about the St. Patrick's Plaza, please.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Thank you, Mr.

         17  Chairman, for allowing me to bring this forward

         18  today.

         19                 It is a very important project for my

         20  community. It is a church that has started the

         21  actual building of the community of which I reside

         22  in today, which is Bay Ridge and Dyker Heights and

         23  Benson Hurst. At the time when this church was

         24  originally built, it was built 150 years ago, and it

         25  was New Utrecht, the town of New Utrecht and the
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          2  town of Ft. Hamilton. Today the Ft. Hamilton Army

          3  Base is still there over 200 years, we had many

          4  great generals come through that Fort. Grant and

          5  Jackson and many people came from around this great

          6  country came through Ft. Hamilton. Many of us here

          7  that may have gone on to serve in the military or to

          8  be signed up for the military had to go through Ft.

          9  Hamilton to get our indoctrination and to get signed

         10  up for the military.

         11                 The area of Bay Ridge has been

         12  greatly helped by the efforts of this great church

         13  and this great pastor that we have here today who

         14  came and arrived in St. Patrick's in 1988, and has

         15  picked up this school to be one of the top schools,

         16  not only in the Bay Ridge area, but in the City of

         17  New York, with outstanding cutting edge programs

         18  that have lifted both scores of math and English and

         19  one of the top rated schools today, not only in this

         20  City but in this State, and this church and school

         21  have done a great tribute to our community, and I

         22  would like to bring forward the pastor and one of

         23  the congregation with him, and allow them to speak

         24  before you and tell you more about this great plaza

         25  that we are hoping to name and vote today, sir.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

          3  much, Council Member.

          4                 Sergeant, would you give us slips to

          5  fill out so they can fill them out, please. Just

          6  have a seat and identify yourselves for the record

          7  and begin your testimony. This is being recorded.

          8                 Here at the table, did you fill out

          9  slips yet?

         10                 Just give them blank slips,

         11  Katherine. Just give them blank slips to fill out,

         12  please.

         13                 Why don't you begin your testimony.

         14                 MONSIGNOR O'TOOLE: I am Monsignor

         15  O'TOOLE: I am Monsignor O'Toole, the Pastor at St.

         16  Patrick's Parish, I have been there for 12 years.  I

         17  am here asking the Council to consider renaming the

         18  streets outside the church and school as St.

         19  Patrick's Plaza, just that area.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:   Are your

         21  sermons as short as that?

         22                 MONSIGNOR O'TOOLE: Some.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Some?

         24                 MONSIGNOR O'TOOLE: Very few.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: I will have to
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          2  take lessons from you then. Sometimes they accuse

          3  mine of being a little long. I thank you.

          4                 Please identify yourself for the

          5  record.

          6                 MR. PREZIOSO: Hi. My name is George

          7  Prezioso, I am a life-long resident and member of

          8  St. Patrick's Church in Bay Ridge, Brooklyn.

          9                 This church has a very long history.

         10  As the Councilman mentioned, it was founded because

         11  of Ft. Hamilton Army Base because there wasn't --

         12  while most of the generals went to the Protestant

         13  church, there wasn't a Catholic church for the

         14  infantry men to worship, so that is how the whole

         15  church began 150 years ago.

         16                 During my lifetime, since 1959, it

         17  has been an integral part of the community, helping

         18  to make Bay Ridge be that type of community where

         19  you have many events going on, besides the school

         20  and the sports and the worshiping. The church has

         21  had an outstanding effort and has been a community

         22  player in the Ft. Hamilton section of Bay Ridge.

         23  Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         25  much.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Thank you,

          3  Monsignor.

          4                 Thank you, George.

          5                 MR. PREZIOSO: Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: We have been

          7  joined by Council Member Provenzano from the Bronx,

          8  and Council Member Robinson from Brooklyn.

          9                 Thank you. Thank you very much.

         10                 Council Member Perkins, could you

         11  tell us why you are here?

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you

         13  very much, Mr. Chairman. I am here, proud to have

         14  introduced for this Committee's vote, consideration

         15  and vote, Intro. No. 610. You know, you can hardly

         16  read the newspapers, especially the New York Times

         17  these days, without reading about the extraordinary

         18  renaissance that is taking place in the Harlem

         19  community that I have the wonderful privilege of

         20  representing, and it is a renaissance that was not

         21  born four years ago or eight years ago or any time

         22  in the recent history, it is a renaissance that has

         23  come into fruition as a result of work that began

         24  many, many years ago by community activists,

         25  community leaders, and we are now beginning to see
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          2  the fruits of their labor, and so one of those

          3  individuals that played such an extraordinary role

          4  in bringing about this renaissance is Eugene McCabe.

          5                 His work has been evident in the

          6  building of a hospital in a community that is known

          7  to be in great need of health care, and in addition

          8  to that, there are two major developments in the

          9  vicinity of that hospital, Maple Court and Maple

         10  Plaza, that address the housing needs of the people

         11  in that neighborhood.

         12                 But beyond his ability to address the

         13  health needs and housing needs of the people in that

         14  community, is the role that he has played

         15  additionally as a role model to young people and to

         16  others who have made a commitment to this community,

         17  not only in Harlem but also as an example of what

         18  this great City has to offer, and as usual, Harlem

         19  is proud to be the place where these type of

         20  examples are nourished and so I am proud to be here

         21  to offer this introduction to have in his honor, in

         22  tribute to the work that he has done, and in tribute

         23  to the work that so many like him have done, a bill

         24  to have a street name Eugene McCabe Way, in the

         25  vicinity of the North General Hospital in my
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          2  district.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you,

          4  Council Member.

          5                 Gene McCabe was a personal friend,

          6  and a wonderful man, but I will let those who are

          7  here to testify do the talking Gene McCabe.

          8                 Ms. McCabe is here. Are you going to

          9  testify?

         10                 MS. McCABE: A little bit.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Just a little

         12  bit? Any bit from you is good. Why don't you come,

         13  please.

         14                 My dear friend and mentor of most

         15  people in public life, Livingston Francis and

         16  others, give the Sergeants -- there are three seats,

         17  why don't we fill them with two other people.

         18                 Elsie, it's good to see you again. My

         19  deepest sympathy in the loss of your husband. I

         20  might say that you have both made wonderful choices

         21  in each other. You are wonderful people, I still

         22  love you both dearly.

         23                 MS. McCABE: Thank you. My remarks

         24  today are brief. I simply wanted to thank the bill's

         25  sponsors on behalf of our family, Wendell, Phil

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            15

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS

          2  Reed, Councilwoman Robinson, Stan Michels, as well

          3  as the others, it means a great deal to our family.

          4  I know it will mean a great deal to my children as

          5  they grow older to know what lasting impact their

          6  father really had on the community.

          7                 Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Tell us your name

          9  just for the record, please. And tell me, will I

         10  have a chance to see the twins before they finish

         11  college?

         12                 MS. McCABE: Absolutely. I brought

         13  pictures.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Very good.

         15                 MS. McCABE: And it is now Elsie

         16  McCabe, and I am the president of the Museum for

         17  African Art, here in SoHo, soon to be uptown.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: I remember you so

         19  well when you were Chief of Staff across the hall at

         20  one time.

         21                 Thank you very much.

         22                 Brother Livingston, do you want to go

         23  next?

         24                 MR. LIVINGSTON: Thank you.

         25                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I would like
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          2  to take this opportunity to thank Council Member

          3  Perkins.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Identify

          5  yourself, first, by telling us your name.

          6                 MR. LIVINGSTON: I am sorry.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: This is being

          8  recorded, so we have got to have it for the record.

          9  Thank you.

         10                 MR. LIVINGSTON: Thank you. I am

         11  Livingston S. Francis. I am the Chairman of the

         12  Board of Trustees of North General Hospital, and as

         13  I started to say, I would like to thank Councilman

         14  Perkins for his efforts on behalf of North General

         15  Hospital and the entire community of Harlem in

         16  naming the street that we are dealing with today,

         17  and thank Chairman Foster and the members of this

         18  Committee for the opportunity to speak before you.

         19                 Twenty years ago, against

         20  immeasurable odds, Eugene McCabe made North General

         21  Hospital a reality in Harlem.

         22                 It was Gene's vision that led to the

         23  construction of the $150 million state-of-the-art

         24  hospital in this medically underserved community. He

         25  was committed to high quality medical care for the
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          2  residents of Harlem and recruited highly qualified

          3  and dedicated staff to make it possible.

          4                 Gene viewed the hospital as a

          5  community institution, an institution that has as

          6  its primary mission quality health care. However,

          7  Gene also recognized the importance of North General

          8  Hospital as a community institution, and was keenly

          9  aware of the responsibility we had to address

         10  quality of life issues in Harlem.

         11                 In addition to many other

         12  initiatives, his insight and leadership led to the

         13  creation of Maple Court and Maple Plaza. Standing

         14  side by side with the new hospital facility, these

         15  housing developments have revitalized the once

         16  blighted Madison Avenue corridor, which will bear

         17  Gene's name in great tribute.

         18                 Gene was a visionary. He was a

         19  dedicated leader with enormous energy, determination

         20  and commitment. He was passionate about things that

         21  he believed to be important.

         22                 Gene was also a compassionate human

         23  being with charming and engaging personality. He

         24  genuinely liked people and believed in them. He was

         25  a role model and mentor for many, young and old
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          2  alike.

          3                 His greatest strength may have been

          4  his ability to recognize potential in others and

          5  work unselfishly to assist them in achieving their

          6  goals. His life was for and about people.

          7                 He was head of a hospital family, a

          8  family that had and continues to have great

          9  affection for him. We strongly encourage the Council

         10  of the City of New York to enact a local law to name

         11  Madison Avenue between East 118th Street and East

         12  124th Streets in honor of Eugene L. McCabe.

         13                 Thank you very much.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you, Mr.

         15  Francis.

         16                 Ms. Hackett.

         17                 MS. HACKETT: Thank you. My name is

         18  Lisa Hackett.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Speak right into

         20  the microphone, please, so we can make sure it is

         21  recorded.

         22                 MS. HACKETT: Sure.

         23                 My name is Lisa Hackett, and I have

         24  been an employee of North General Hospital for well

         25  over ten years.
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          2                 For all of us who had the opportunity

          3  to know and to work with Eugene McCabe, renaming the

          4  Madison Corridor from 118th Street to 124th Street

          5  in Harlem is a gift that we will share with his

          6  children, Aaron and Eugene, Jr., and future Harlem

          7  residents.

          8                 The renaming is a testament to a

          9  unique man's legacy. For most it is an important

         10  landmark honoring an unsung giant of civic

         11  responsibility and mammoth talent.

         12                 A modest man that changed Harlem's

         13  dire health, social and economic landscape, Mr.

         14  McCabe unselfishly gave of himself to make a

         15  difference in Harlem. Many cautioned him that it was

         16  impossible to build a first class hospital in

         17  Harlem. He valiantly but quietly proved them wrong.

         18                 North General Hospital was recognized

         19  as a top rate hospital serving a medically

         20  underserved community. Hillary Clinton has come to

         21  see how health care should be delivered in a

         22  community where resources are scarce, but commitment

         23  is plentiful.

         24                 North General Hospital received joint

         25  commission accreditation with commendation in
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          2  October 1997. This phenomenal feat was achieved just

          3  one year before Mr. McCabe was admitted to the first

          4  class hospital to spend his final days. He truly

          5  believed that no hospital could provide him the best

          6  care for his illness. Harold Freeman, a pioneer

          7  breast cancer surgeon, as of August 1999, made North

          8  General his home. Dr. Freeman plans to continue the

          9  tradition of excellence in Harlem that Mr. McCabe

         10  envisioned.

         11                 Moreover, Dr. Freeman will build on

         12  the solid foundation that Mr. McCabe created to

         13  further achievements in health and social welfare so

         14  that the Harlems around this nation and the world

         15  can prosper economically and socially.

         16                 As a little girl reared in Columbus,

         17  Georgia, I had a dream to live and work in Harlem.

         18  Eugene McCabe gave me the opportunity to make my

         19  dreams a reality.

         20                 I hitched my dream of improving

         21  socioeconomic status in Harlem as Mr. McCabe's

         22  engine. I missed the brainstorming sessions that

         23  were creative and flourished ideas incessantly.

         24  Because of him, I am working full-time as a grants

         25  writer at the hospital and will be graduating from
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          2  law school in two years. With my law degree I hope

          3  to continue Mr. McCabe's work by encouraging Harlem

          4  residents to utilize their talents in economic

          5  development and cultural development, and to keep

          6  those very talents and resources in Harlem to build

          7  an even better Harlem.

          8                 I want to give back to a community

          9  that I was able to gain so much from.

         10                 I want to be a role model for Mr.

         11  McCabe's children and their friends and Harlem's

         12  children. Mr. McCabe would have expected no less.

         13                 The Madison Corridor we now see was

         14  once a bearing canvas. Mr. McCabe was lead artist

         15  and architect behind our four magnificent

         16  masterpieces that are model health care and housing

         17  construction projects in New York State.

         18                 Those projects are the North General

         19  Hospital and its Annex, Maple Court and Maple Court

         20  II.

         21                 Much like an artist, Mr. McCabe never

         22  stopped dreaming about the impossible, and like a

         23  noble prize winner, he ingenuously made the

         24  impossible happen. He wielded his talents to get

         25  others genuinely excited and constantly motivated
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          2  about what could be and what would become for Harlem

          3  residents.

          4                 At the end of every success, he

          5  avoided the spotlight so as to cast light on those

          6  with whom he had shared success. Today, New York

          7  City and Harlem will honor him by renaming the

          8  Madison Avenue Corridor that was his treasure.

          9                 I have run hurriedly in mid-morning

         10  to hide my tardiness, walked leisurely to

         11  mid-afternoon meetings, and driven home late nights

         12  after working on projects on Madison Avenue, that

         13  will be named for my mentor, Mr. McCabe.

         14                 I am certain that in my future

         15  travels down the new way the purpose will remain

         16  steadfast in the meaning still omnipotent.

         17                 On future mornings, afternoons, and

         18  nights as I run, walk or drive, I will look to the

         19  signs that bear his name for expression and

         20  strength. I am certain in the years to come those

         21  who travel will do the same.

         22                 Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         24  much for your testimony. And if you decide not to

         25  practice law, you can always become a great writer.
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          2  That was wonderful.

          3                 MS. HACKETT: Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

          5  much.

          6                 Is anyone else here to speak on

          7  behalf of this bill? Is this for the McCabe bill?

          8                 Shall we start with the lady in red

          9  first. Will you just identify yourself, and begin

         10  your testimony.

         11                 MS. NORMAN: Thank you. My name is

         12  Patricia Norman. I am currently the Senior Vice

         13  President and Chief Financial Officer at North

         14  General Hospital.

         15                 My career at the hospital began as an

         16  accounts payable clerk 32 years ago in January of

         17  1967, when the hospital was a joint diseases

         18  orthopaedic specialty. When that orthopedic

         19  specialty organization moved downtown in 1979, North

         20  General Hospital was incorporated to continue to

         21  provide primary care for Harlem Community.

         22                 I was fortunate to serve as

         23  Comptroller and then Chief Financial Officer for

         24  Eugene McCabe, who I knew as Gene.

         25                 He served first as Chairman of the
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          2  Board of Trustees from 1979 and '81, and then as

          3  President from 1981 to 1998.

          4                 Initially Gene's energy focused on

          5  keeping the doors of the 190-bed primary care

          6  facility open.

          7                 This in itself was a feat to be

          8  recognized, because we opened in 1979 without any

          9  real assets to support the operation of the aging

         10  190-bed plant. The only source of revenue was

         11  derived from patient billings for the 75 percent

         12  Medicaid and 20 percent Medicare patient base.

         13  Doubtful paydays for approximately 1,000 employees

         14  were averted by political rallies on Madison Avenue

         15  where Gene orchestrated.

         16                 His vision for the community did not

         17  stop there, because he saw North General not only as

         18  a provider of quality health care and an employer of

         19  choice, but also as a source of economic growth and

         20  well-being for the surrounding community. There is

         21  proof in the pudding today, along a designated strip

         22  of Madison Avenue between 118th and 124th Streets.

         23  Gene McCabe's efforts led to the development of both

         24  state-of-the-art health care facilities and

         25  innovative housing, beginning at 118th Street, going
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          2  uptown. First North General Annex at 1824 Madison

          3  Avenue, between 118th and 119th Street, a five-story

          4  building for clinical information systems and

          5  administrative offices.

          6                 Second, North General's Helene

          7  College of Nursing on Madison Avenue between 119th

          8  and 120th Street, operating out of the Bethel Gospel

          9  Assembly Building.

         10                 Third, North General Hospital at 1879

         11  Madison Avenue, a state-of-the-art eight-story,

         12  200-bed facility, between 121st and 122nd Street.

         13                 Fourth, Maple Court, 134 co-op units

         14  at 1901 Madison Avenue at 123rd.

         15                 Fifth, Maple Plaza, 155 co-op units

         16  at 1919 Madison Avenue at 124th Street.

         17                 It is worth noting that both the

         18  hospital and the Annex buildings were completed

         19  ahead of schedule and under the $150 million budget

         20  set by the New York State Medical Care Facilities

         21  Agency.

         22                 In addition, the limited equity

         23  cooperative residences have been completely

         24  occupied.

         25                 The success of the two beautiful
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          2  co-op additions to the community has led to a

          3  proposed development Madison Park Homes at 120th

          4  Street in Madison Avenue.

          5                 I know that the influence of Gene

          6  McCabe's vision on the reality of the landscape we

          7  see today goes without question in the hearts and

          8  the minds of the North General Hospital family.

          9                 Gene's vision also extended beyond

         10  Madison Avenue. Gene's other successes included the

         11  North General Home Attendant Program located at 205

         12  East 122nd Street, the Paul Ropeson Center, located

         13  at 140th West 125th Street, and the renovation of an

         14  AIDS housing residency located at 1997 Lexington

         15  Avenue at 122nd Street.

         16                 I believe that changing the name of

         17  Madison Avenue between East 118th and East 124th to

         18  Eugene McCabe Way, will not only pay tribute to the

         19  man today, but also keep the visions alive and

         20  growing for all of Harlem's tomorrows.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you, Vice

         22  President Norman.

         23                 Mr. Long.

         24                 MR. LONG: Yes. Good afternoon. My

         25  name is Thomas Long, I am the Executive Vice
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          2  President of North General Hospital. I had the

          3  privilege and honor of working with Eugene McCabe

          4  for 20 years. I am here today to testify in relation

          5  to a street renaming, Eugene McCabe Way in the

          6  Borough of Manhattan.

          7                 My testimony begins over 20 years ago

          8  when a man named Eugene McCabe had the   courage to

          9  stand up and do the right thing.

         10                 In 1979 the Board of Trustees of

         11  Joint Diseases Medical Center located at 123rd

         12  Street in Madison Avenue, had developed plans to

         13  abandon a hospital that has been providing health

         14  care in the community since the turn of the century.

         15                 It was also at a time when other

         16  medical facilities in the Harlem community were

         17  closing, threatening the ability of residents of

         18  Harlem to access care in their community.

         19                 Eugene McCabe would not let that

         20  happen. Over the next 20 years, as president of

         21  North General Hospital, using his leadership and

         22  vision, North General was not only born but matured

         23  into a first class medical facility that became the

         24  anchor for the revitalization of a community.

         25                 It was Eugene McCabe's vision and
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          2  dedication that allowed North General to be more

          3  than a hospital. It became the largest private

          4  employer in Harlem, employing over 1,000 people, an

          5  educational institution to train predominantly

          6  minority young men and women to become doctors and

          7  nurses, many of whom would not have the same

          8  opportunity elsewhere and now work in the community.

          9  The community sponsor of over 300 units of

         10  low-equity co-op housing, Maple Court and Maple

         11  Plaza, with a third housing program in development.

         12                 These are a few of Eugene McCabe's

         13  contributions to the Harlem community. There are

         14  many more, and some you have heard from the others

         15  testifying today. Renaming 118th Street to 124th

         16  Street on Madison Avenue to Eugene McCabe Way is not

         17  only appropriate, it is the right thing to do, for a

         18  man who did the right thing and dedicated over 20

         19  years of his life changing a community.

         20                 Eugene McCabe will not only recognize

         21  his contribution to the community, but will be a

         22  constant reminder to every resident of the community

         23  of what can be accomplished.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you, Mr.

         25  Vice President.
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          2                 Mr. Earnest J. Batiste.

          3                 MR. BAPTISTE: Yes. Good afternoon,

          4  Mr. Chairman. My name is Earnest Baptiste, I am the

          5  Vice President for Clinical Services at North

          6  General Hospital, and a member of the Northern

          7  Hospital Family for the past 12 years.

          8                 Mr. Eugene McCabe was the cornerstone

          9  of the hospital, North General Hospital. He was a

         10  well respected leader in the Harlem community. He

         11  demanded excellence from his staff, and required

         12  that quality health care provided to Harlem

         13  residents with dignity and respect.

         14                 In the early eighties it was his

         15  tireless efforts and gentle persistence that kept

         16  North General Hospital from closing its doors,

         17  Harlem's largest private employer.

         18                 Vowing never to refuse Harlem

         19  residents access to health care in their own

         20  neighborhood, McCabe worked to obtain New York State

         21  approval for the construction of a new

         22  state-of-the-art hospital which opened in December

         23  1991.

         24                 Mr. McCabe's next project for the

         25  Harlem community, which still continues today, was
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          2  the development of affordable housing for Harlem

          3  residents.

          4                 He worked with HUD, the state and the

          5  City in development of construction of 300 co-op

          6  units located next to the hospital on Madison

          7  Avenue, between 122nd Street and 124th Street.

          8                 In addition, he worked to develop

          9  additional affordable housing when faced with an

         10  untimely death.

         11                 Today we continue to work with HUD,

         12  the state and City, in the development of additional

         13  housing projects in the Harlem community. It is

         14  precisely Eugene McCabe's development effort that

         15  put Harlem back on the map.

         16                 What I have described above are a few

         17  examples of the many accomplishments of Eugene

         18  McCabe. Therefore, I am here today to support the

         19  renaming of East 118th Street through E 124th Street

         20  to Eugene McCabe Way.

         21                 I believe this is a great tribute to

         22  a man who truly was committed to providing quality

         23  health care in the development of affordable housing

         24  for the Harlem community.

         25                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

          3  much.

          4                 You are excused. Thank you.

          5                 Is there anyone else here for this

          6  intro?

          7                 If you can wait we will have the vote

          8  shortly. Thank you very much.

          9                 Intro. 628, Council Member Freed

         10  cannot be here, but I am going to have witnesses for

         11  the Barnett Newman Triangle, Borough of Manhattan.

         12                 Ann Temkin, from the Philadelphia

         13  Museum of Art. Al the way from Benjamin Franklin

         14  Parkway. And Carl Glassman. Thank you. Would you

         15  begin your testimony. Identify yourselves.

         16                 MS. TEMKIN: Good morning. Council

         17  Member Freed was called away on an emergency, so I

         18  am here to read her testimony. I will be brief

         19  because we have a number of distinguished guests

         20  here today.

         21                 It is a great honor and a privilege

         22  for me to be the sponsor of this legislation to

         23  rename the Triangle at Church Street Avenue of the

         24  Americas and Walker Street after Barnett Newman.

         25                 This legislation recognizes the work
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          2  of Barnett Newman as one of the forefathers of

          3  contemporary art in New York City and the United

          4  States.

          5                 Barnett Newman will always be

          6  remembered for his contribution to abstract

          7  expressionism, and as an artist who profoundly

          8  identified with the creative spirit of New York City

          9  and the Tribecca neighborhood where he worked for

         10  many years.

         11                 Barnett Newman was born and raised in

         12  New York City, attended New York City public

         13  schools, and graduated from the City College of New

         14  York. He was engaged in progressive politics, and

         15  was involved in the social and political life of the

         16  City his entire life. In fact, in the 1930s he even

         17  ran for Mayor.

         18                 As an artist, Barnett Newman, along

         19  with Robert Motherwell, Jackson Pollack, Adolf

         20  Gotleib, Willem de Kooning, Clifford Still, Hans

         21  Hoffman and Franz Klein, first created the abstract

         22  painting known variously as abstract expressionism

         23  action painting and the New York School.

         24                 For the first time in history, the

         25  center of the western art world shifted from Europe
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          2  to the United States and specifically focused in New

          3  York.

          4                 Barnett Newman's contribution to 20th

          5  century art is a great source of pride to his Lower

          6  Manhattan neighbors and his community. We are very

          7  pleased to remember him today.

          8                 Thank you, Council Member Foster, and

          9  members of the Committee. We urge you to pass this

         10  legislation on behalf of Barnett Newman.

         11                 Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         13  much. We will hear our visitor from Philadelphia. It

         14  is a great town, great city.

         15                 MS. TEMKIN: Yes.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  But it is not

         17  New York.

         18                 Thank you. Would you identify

         19  yourself and give us your testimony.

         20                 MS. TEMKIN: I am Ann Temkin, and I am

         21  the curator of 20th Century Art at the Philadelphia

         22  Art Museum, as you know.

         23                 I am pleased to be here as the

         24  curator of a retrospective expedition devoted to

         25  Barnett Newman's work, which will be held in 2002 at
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          2  the Philadelphia Museum and the Tate Gallery in

          3  London.

          4                 So that makes me an art historian.

          5  And that I say proudly, even though Barnett Newman's

          6  probably most famous remark, most quoted remark, and

          7  I paraphrased here in which he said that art history

          8  means as much to artists as ornithology means to

          9  birds. But we do take that as a challenge and, in

         10  fact, for this reason I think, among many others,

         11  Newman's stature at the turn of the millennium is

         12  greater than ever, and his inspiration continues to

         13  be far-reaching in ways that he certainly never even

         14  could have foreseen.

         15                 He is also an artist we respect

         16  enormously as a person who had a singular vision,

         17  and who was able to translate that vision into

         18  beautiful and challenging paintings that defy

         19  explanation.

         20                 He was an artist for whom his

         21  profession was hard won, and remained precious, who

         22  never had it easy or would have traded it for

         23  anything else on earth. And he was an artist with

         24  profound integrity and profound caring. And for that

         25  reason, who would have had no greater honor
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          2  imaginable than a salute that springs from fellow

          3  artists generations later.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you. They

          6  made a wise choice in hiring you. God bless you.

          7  Thank you.

          8                 All right, sir.

          9                 MR. GLASSMAN: Good afternoon. My name

         10  is Carl Glassman, and I am the Editor and

         11  Co-publisher of the Tribecca Trib. We are a

         12  community newspaper that covers Lower Manhattan.

         13                 Last December our paper sponsored a

         14  contest to name the traffic triangle at Franklin and

         15  Church Streets. The judges included Councilwoman

         16  Freed, Bruce Emmerman from Community Board 1, Oliver

         17  Allen, who writes the Tribecca history column for

         18  our paper and myself.

         19                 We received more than 80 entries, and

         20  a number of them were worthy. Why we picked Barnett

         21  Newman? Others here can talk more eloquently and

         22  knowledgeably about the artists and about abstract

         23  expressionism, but what I would like to briefly

         24  speak to is a symbolic importance of this naming.

         25                 Artists, especially visual artists,
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          2  have been critically important to the development

          3  and character of our neighborhood.

          4                 It is getting awfully easy to forget

          5  that fact, as the area becomes better known for its

          6  mega real estate deals and its celebrity residents,

          7  and for the creative energy of its artist settlers.

          8                 As early as the 1940s, Barnett Newman

          9  was painting the artistic wasteland of Lower

         10  Manhattan, and before Tribecca was Tribecca, his

         11  studio overlooked the traffic island at Franklin and

         12  Church.

         13                 Now we have the opportunity to give

         14  that island a name, Barnett Newman Triangle, as a

         15  reminder that it was artists who paved the way for

         16  the Tribecca today.

         17                 Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         19  much.

         20                 Mr. Varnedoe, would you please come?

         21  And Mr. Frank Stella. Thank you. If we will just

         22  remain seated for awhile, we will have a vote

         23  shortly. We are trying to get our photographer here.

         24  I saw one of the best newsmen in the whole world out

         25  there.
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          2                 Frank, where are you? Frank, these

          3  are some good people we are talking about today,

          4  very good. Frank Lombardo, if you read his column in

          5  the Daily News. If you don't, I want you to see him

          6  so you will know that he is a good guy.

          7                 I said it. I get my $5 to say it,

          8  Frank.

          9                 Okay, thank you. Would you identify

         10  yourselves for the record, please?

         11                 MR. VARNEDOE: I am Kirk Varnedoe. I

         12  am Chief Curator of Painting and Sculpture of the

         13  Museum of Modern Art in New York, and one of the

         14  great privileges of that job is a great collection

         15  of abstract expressionists painting or New York

         16  School painting, and one of the centerpieces of that

         17  collection is a great representation of the work of

         18  Barnett Newman.

         19                 I am also a resident of Lower

         20  Manhattan myself, so I speak in two guises in

         21  support of renaming this traffic triangle for

         22  Barnett Newman.

         23                 I think Lower Manhattan is known

         24  around the world as a great brokerage place of

         25  finance, but it is less well recognized both here
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          2  and abroad for what it is as a crucible of

          3  creativity, which it has also been crucially,

          4  especially since the second world war, and I think

          5  at the moment in the 1950s, the United States

          6  emerged on the international stage, unlike Europe

          7  unscathed on its own territory by the second world

          8  war, and with new financial resources and new

          9  economic power and new military power in the world,

         10  it was essential to our place as a civilization that

         11  also emerged as a nation with a vibrant and

         12  productive school of art of which Barnett Newman was

         13  a central representative. And I think that when we

         14  think of the place of the United States in the

         15  second half of this century and we think of the

         16  place of New York within American creativity,

         17  Barnett Newman is one of the great shining lights of

         18  American culture. And I think that as a resident of

         19  Lower Manhattan, as someone who cares about culture

         20  in New York, and as an art historian concern with

         21  the art of the 20th century, I cannot support more

         22  strongly than I do now the renaming of this triangle

         23  in honor of Barnett Newman.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         25  much, sir.
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          2                 Mr. Stella, start by giving us your

          3  name, please.

          4                 MR. STELLA: Frank Stella. I am a

          5  resident of Manhattan and I have been here since I

          6  came here in 1958, and I have never left. I have

          7  been painting in all of those years, actually since

          8  1958. So, I am a practicing artist and I have been

          9  in New York.

         10                 One of the things, a kind of minor

         11  miracle in New York, is that you can come here and

         12  hit bottom and know where you are. There is a big

         13  well of support here for artists, and you can find

         14  it in the lofts, you can find it all through the art

         15  society.

         16                 Barnett Newman when I first came here

         17  was a big star, but he was always available, and it

         18  is the kind of mobility in the art world in New

         19  York, the ability to see things go places that is so

         20  important. New York is undoubtedly the art center of

         21  the last 50 years, but what makes it so great is

         22  that the art here made by the best artists is

         23  available to everyone, but especially young aspiring

         24  artists for nothing.

         25                 The art galleries and the art scene
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          2  make it possible to see the best art being made at

          3  the moment that it is made, and so with this

          4  advantage, and this is really the reason in the last

          5  50 years why the best art is made in New York,

          6  because you have the most opportunity to see the

          7  best art being made when it is being made. And I

          8  think that no one was more available to the art

          9  world than Barnett Newman and his best ideas, his

         10  best work, were immediately available at no cost to

         11  anyone who would take the trouble to see it. So, I

         12  think that the naming of this triangle would be

         13  overwhelmingly appropriate, and a wonderful gesture.

         14                 Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         16  much, Mr. Stella. You may be excused.

         17                 Is there anyone else here for this

         18  bill?

         19                 Yes, Ma'am.

         20                 MR. EHRMANN: First I want to thank

         21  Council Member Freed for this opportunity. My name

         22  is Bruce Ehrmann, I live and work in Tribecca. I am

         23  a member of Community Board 1 and I have been a

         24  grateful resident of New York City for the better

         25  part of 26 years.
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          2                 Many a night I have walked passed the

          3  open windswept little pedestrian plaza at White,

          4  Franklin and Church Streets, one of many that

          5  characterized Tribecca's street plan, and wondered

          6  how a spot so geographically prominent could be so

          7  aesthetically forlorn. It marked the very point

          8  where Avenue of the Americas begins, historic

          9  buildings were being restored all around, a hotel

         10  was arising right in front of it, while the spot

         11  didn't even have a name.

         12                 A name. That seemed a good place to

         13  start, especially since every other triangle in

         14  Tribecca had one. I mentioned this to Carl Glassman,

         15  publisher of the Tribecca Trib, and he suggested a

         16  naming contest. Two months later, over 82

         17  suggestions had been submitted from nominators all

         18  over the City. Carl told you the members of the

         19  judging committee. We had few predispositions, other

         20  than that, the offering bears some relationship to

         21  the immediate neighborhood, and if other personage,

         22  then of one deceased.

         23                 Many, many suggestions were good

         24  ones, but two separate entities proposed Barnett

         25  Newman Triangle, my heart soared. It was an
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          2  embarrassment of riches. I had no idea that this

          3  titan of American art had worked in a loft studio

          4  right above the plaza at the corner of White and

          5  Church.

          6                 It was the kind of reckoning I

          7  secretly dreamed of and didn't really expect to be

          8  fulfilled. Tribecca and SoHo are recognized

          9  internationally as the great nexus of cultural

         10  production and creativity and no public space in

         11  those neighborhoods officially acknowledges this.

         12                 Indeed, only a single other public

         13  space in Manhattan is named after a foreign artist.

         14  Barnett Newman was one of the most important artists

         15  of the 20th century.

         16                 He died in 1970 and he was the

         17  spokesperson for his artistic generation, and has

         18  been an enormous influence to countless artists in

         19  every succeeding generation, some of whom sit before

         20  you today.

         21                 His paintings and sculptures are

         22  benchmarks of the age cherished all over the world.

         23  He was a progressive and engaged citizen of this

         24  city. He worked in Lower Manhattan his entire adult

         25  life and his contributions to this City to art and

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            43

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS

          2  to global cult are immense, inestimable.

          3                 He loved New York City as much as

          4  anyone ever did. Ann Newman, his widow, who

          5  celebrated her 90th birthday in August and still

          6  lives in Manhattan, has said Barny Newman was

          7  "romantic about New York. This was his city."

          8                 Newman himself wrote of New York the

          9  following, and I will condense this. "The tip of the

         10  Island of Manhattan forms a compact heterogenous

         11  cosmopolis where one can still have the charming

         12  feeling of living in two centuries, where one can

         13  still savor the distinctive American flavor.

         14                 Hemmed in by two rivers on its side

         15  where a short walk can take you from one to the

         16  other, and by two old fashioned commons on the north

         17  and south, Bowling Green and City Hall Park, one

         18  feels the sense of a whole City in its past.

         19                 The huge wall that lined the narrow

         20  lanes of a colonial village, the skyscrapers and the

         21  two-story revolutionary houses, the tiny church art,

         22  and the huge railroad terminals, the old landing

         23  piers and the gigantic bridges, all are jammed close

         24  together as can happen only in New York, and all can

         25  be seen at once together. The sense of focus of

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            44

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS

          2  people and things in times is immense, unquote.

          3                 Barnett Newman's work speaks of this

          4  and now with your help Barnett Newman Triangle will

          5  speak of him.

          6                 Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

          8  much. Thank you for coming to testify.

          9                 We have been joined by Council Member

         10  Fisher, and at his request we are going to lay aside

         11  for the next meeting Intro. No. 558.

         12                 At this time we will hear the

         13  Langston Hughes bill, No. 618.

         14                 Mr. Jackson, are you here? Or

         15  photographer is here. This has been such a beautiful

         16  afternoon, in a day when kids are killing each other

         17  and people are going crazy, I think it is just

         18  wonderful that we can come here and say nice things

         19  about nice people.

         20                 Before Mr. Jackson begins, let me say

         21  that there are those in the past who criticized the

         22  naming and renaming of streets. Let me make it

         23  clear. We do not take any name down that is there,

         24  we simply add an additional name so that people who

         25  are alive and people who are yet unborn can see that
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          2  others made a contribution to the City as well.

          3                 Mr. Jackson, would you begin your

          4  testimony, on a man that I knew and loved dearly.

          5                 MR. JACKSON: To the members of the

          6  Committee on Parks, Recreation, Cultural Affairs and

          7  International Intergroup relations, good afternoon.

          8                 My name is Andrew P. Jackson, also

          9  known as Sekou Molefi Baako. I am the Executive

         10  Director of the Langston Hughes Community Library

         11  and Cultural Center of the Queens Borough Public

         12  Library.

         13                 It opened its doors for public

         14  service as a federally funded special project in

         15  April of 1969, and was the first public institution

         16  named for Langston Hughes who was born in 1902 and

         17  who died in 1967.

         18                 First published in 1926, Langston

         19  Hughes is one of America's most famous poets and

         20  best known African-American author.

         21                 His poetry, essays, song lyrics,

         22  plays, short stories, anthologies, articles and

         23  biographies have been translated into 17 different

         24  languages. He wrote for all age levels and was the

         25  first to express himself in the eyes of an American
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          2  with African ancestry.

          3                 He traveled the world and wrote about

          4  life living in Harlem, Spain and Africa, the human

          5  struggle for liberty and freedom, the humor in life

          6  and its beauty and the pathos with candor.

          7                 Today the Langston Hughes Community

          8  Library and Cultural Center is one of the most

          9  unique public library institutions in the country.

         10  Housed in Corona Queens, the library center offers

         11  what may be the largest circulating black heritage

         12  reading collection in any public library in New York

         13  State, possibly the Northeast and even the country.

         14                 The library was conceived and

         15  designed by local residents under the name of the

         16  Library Action Committee of the Corona East

         17  Elmhurst, Incorporated, a not-for-profit

         18  organization, and presented to the Queens Borough

         19  Public Library. From 1969 to 1987 it was operated

         20  and staffed by this community-based organization

         21  under the auspices of the Queens Borough Public

         22  Library.

         23                 In 1987, the Langston Hughes

         24  Community Library and Cultural Center gained full

         25  branch status. As we celebrate 30 years of public
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          2  library service, the anniversary of Langston Hughes

          3  Public Library is an example of what a working

          4  partnership between a community and its public

          5  library system can be.

          6                 It offers circulating and referenced

          7  services, information referral services, and an

          8  organized after school homework assistance program.

          9                 It is the home of the Black Heritage

         10  Reference Center of Queens County with a circulating

         11  collection of over 40,000 volumes of materials by

         12  and about the black experience and specializes in

         13  research and reference collections.

         14                 To support its mission of attracting

         15  non-readers and non-library users, Langston Hughes

         16  has throughout the years offered a cultural arts

         17  program, including film festivals, featuring the

         18  works of independent video and film-makers, literary

         19  and poetry readings, creative writing workshops,

         20  music concerts, artists exhibitions and four annual

         21  cultural celebrations.

         22                 We present both established and

         23  emerging performing, visual and literary artists.

         24                 Modeled after the focus of the poet

         25  laureate of the Harlem Renaissance period's
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          2  writings, the Langston Hughes Community Library and

          3  Cultural Center offers programs and services for all

          4  age levels in the family.

          5                 We receive visitors, researchers,

          6  scholars and students from other states and other

          7  countries. The concept of a community-based

          8  organization and a public library system together

          9  offering a library branch with the full-fledged

         10  cultural arts program has been served as a research

         11  model for many library and information students and

         12  is a model of creative librarianship unparalleled in

         13  the country.

         14                 In 1989, the City Council approved

         15  our request to name our block of Northern Boulevard

         16  between 102nd and 103rd Streets Langston Hughes

         17  Walk. In recognition of the impact of the Langston

         18  Hughes library's 20-year history of service to our

         19  users from Corona, East Elmhurst, Queens County and

         20  throughout New York City.

         21                 This year, as we celebrate our 30th

         22  anniversary, we moved last week to a new

         23  state-of-the-art 24,000 square foot building on the

         24  corner of 100th Street and Northern Boulevard. We

         25  therefore ask that the current designation of
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          2  Langston Hughes Walk be extended from 103rd to 102nd

          3  Street to two additional blocks, to 100th Street.

          4                 On behalf of the Langston Hughes

          5  staff, the members of the Board of Directors of the

          6  Library Action Committee in Corona East Elmhurst,

          7  Incorporated, the Queens Borough Public Library and

          8  especially the community and residents of Corona

          9  East Elmhurst, thank you for your kind consideration

         10  of this request.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         12  much.

         13                 May I just remind you of one thing

         14  that you said? Far be it for me to correct a

         15  curator, a historian, but you said that Mr. Hughes

         16  was one of the best known and perhaps largest

         17  producer of literature by an African-American. The

         18  record would show that Langston Hughes was the most

         19  prolific writer in the history of American letters.

         20  He wrote more than Steinbeck and Hemmingway

         21  combined. He wrote more than Faulkner and others. It

         22  was unfortunate that this country could not see

         23  beyond his color until after he died.

         24                 Thank you for coming. And I want to

         25  say to my colleagues, all of you today, that
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          2  beginning with St. Patrick's Plaza, we are here to

          3  do what we should do, lift up people. I wish to

          4  thank Council Member Golden, because this was stated

          5  by the Monsignor when first this area was down

          6  there, there were people who were Roman Catholic who

          7  had no place to worship. It was only right that it

          8  should be established so that people could worship

          9  their God, and they made a contribution.

         10                 In the interest of Michael Griffith,

         11  it shows what hatred can do. It is one of those

         12  American products that we are specializing in and

         13  hearing more about day by day but it is not germane

         14  to America when you look at a person's skin color or

         15  hate them because of their accent or where they are

         16  from, it shows that there is a sickness in you not

         17  necessarily in the person that you are destroying.

         18                 Michael Griffith made one mistake,

         19  two mistakes. He made the mistake of having a car

         20  break down, and the second mistake was asking for

         21  directions, and he was murdered.

         22                 In the instance of -- and I say this,

         23  because I don't usually do this, I usually keep my

         24  comments until the last, but I think today is an

         25  unusual day. In reference to Eugene McCabe, I was
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          2  one of those skeptics that when Gene would explain

          3  his vision to me, I would simply say, yeah, yeah,

          4  yeah, because he was such a nice guy I never wanted

          5  to discourage him. Nor the hospital that Mr. Perkins

          6  brought before us today, I call it Gene's Hospital,

          7  is not just a good hospital, it is considered one of

          8  the best in the whole state and in the whole

          9  country. He was fortunate in finding a mate that was

         10  as committed as he was and when I see this I am

         11  reminded again of what I often quote here, the Bible

         12  says I shall not die but shall live and declare the

         13  works of the Lord.

         14                 We are not only fortunate to have the

         15  hospital and these buildings, but for all women, all

         16  women of every race, color and creed in America, you

         17  have a man there that is a top expert on breast

         18  cancer in the whole world, and many women's lives

         19  are being saved because this black man, Dr. Harold

         20  Freedman, was able to project to the world the fact

         21  that women should get their breasts examined and

         22  when he began to beat the drum for that, they

         23  thought he was just an alarmist.

         24                 I wondered who would succeed Gene,

         25  but, you know, God has a peculiar way of lifting up
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          2  someone when they are needed, and we couldn't have

          3  chosen a better person, Dr. Freedman.

          4                 We could not have chosen, in my

          5  opinion, and in addition, Frank, for the $5 I want

          6  to collect from you, I want to collect $10 from

          7  Livingston, because you have been -- well, for

          8  instance, you have been out there all the time. You

          9  are the most retired man I have ever met in my life.

         10  I never met a man that every time he retires, he is

         11  given three or four other jobs.

         12                 But I know you and your board will

         13  continue to make this a worthwhile endeavor. And

         14  every time I pass that area, I am reminded by my

         15  daughter and when it was the old hospital before

         16  they took up their beds and ran, that is where she

         17  was operated on, but Gene did a job that has not

         18  been duplicated in this City by any administrator in

         19  the field of medicine, and we commend Bill Perkins

         20  for bringing this before us and forgive Bill for

         21  becoming a nuisance.

         22                 Bill worries me day and night, don't

         23  forget Gene McCabe. Gene McCabe is remembered, and I

         24  told you I would, I hate to say it to you, but I am

         25  gladly saying to you, I told you we would get to it,
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          2  Bill.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: And I want the

          5  people from the hospital to know that Bill is on the

          6  case.

          7                 And then Kathryn Freed brought before

          8  us something that we must remember. You know,

          9  artists are peculiar people, and very often in their

         10  lifetime they suffer, they go hungry, they are

         11  ridiculed. But today we find that we don't have to

         12  go to court on this issue, we won't have to start

         13  paying the money on this issue if we are able to

         14  agree on this issue for the Barnett Newman Plaza.

         15                 And also, in reference to Langston

         16  Hughes. I knew Mr. Hughes when I served as a pastor,

         17  we had the privilege of having him come there a

         18  number of times. Langston Hughes wrote one of the

         19  most significant books that is now out of print. I

         20  think if this is in print, find it. It is called The

         21  Big C. The story of his life, of how he had to sign

         22  on to work as a merchant seaman in the very bottom

         23  of the boat, the ship, because he could not get his

         24  work accepted in America. He had to go to Europe and

         25  other places before they recognized the genius of
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          2  Langston Hughes.

          3                 All of these intros are worthwhile.

          4  They will make New York City a better place, make us

          5  hopefully understand and respect each other for what

          6  we are, all God's children.

          7                 We remind you to recapitulate,

          8  Griffith against hatred; Patrick for peace and love

          9  and the worship of God.

         10                 Did I see Phil Reed? Oh, yes. Phil

         11  Reed, thank you. We just did Eugene McCabe Way.

         12  Thank you for being present. And also, for the

         13  Langston Hughes Way and for Kathryn Freed; I think

         14  we have had a good afternoon and a short afternoon.

         15  Thank you.

         16                 Phil, would you like to speak before

         17  we vote or afterwards? Or does it matter?

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you, Mr.

         19  Chair. I apologize to my colleagues and the families

         20  for not having had a chance to be here earlier, but

         21  I think I was doing the people's work uptown.

         22                 I have been on this Committee since I

         23  stepped into the Council and I am always amazed, as

         24  I am happy to say, about the work that we hear in

         25  this Committee of the unheralded. All of us have to
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          2  stand up and tell the community how great we are to

          3  get elected, our community, everybody that we are

          4  celebrating and naming streets after today have

          5  typically done their work without shouting, without

          6  trying to tell it to the community. This is an

          7  opportunity for the community to come back and tell

          8  their families just how terrific they were.

          9                 And so I am really always proud to be

         10  here when these events and the opportunity this

         11  Committee gives us to be the first on board. I

         12  certainly did know Eugene McCabe and the work that

         13  he did to really help stabilize the community and to

         14  provide health care, but I have no reason to think

         15  that anybody else in here should not be equally

         16  applauded for their terrific work as New Yorkers,

         17  and what we are trying to really say as a City.

         18                 So, I am happy, although I am sorry

         19  to be late, and I was able to be here at least for

         20  this vote, and will look forward to doing this also

         21  in the full Council. So, God bless all of you. Thank

         22  you very much.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         24  much, Phil, Councilman Reed.

         25                 I would like the Council Members, if
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          2  they so desire, to take a picture with those persons

          3  who came to testify. I think this has been one of

          4  the sweetest meetings that we have had, no dissent,

          5  no argument, no anger, at least I didn't see any. If

          6  there is anger, let it occur after I leave.

          7                 Roll call now please.

          8                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Foster.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: I have stated the

         10  reasons why I will vote aye on all of them gladly,

         11  and I wish to have my name placed on every bill.

         12  Thank you.

         13                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Povman.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER POVMAN: Aye on all.

         15                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Fisher.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FISHER: If I could be

         17  temporarily excused to explain my vote?

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Yes.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER FISHER: Mr. Chairman,

         20  I am happy to vote aye on all of the coupled items

         21  before us. I wanted to comment on a couple of them,

         22  and I have to tell you, Mr. Chairman, I don't know

         23  if it was intentional on your part to put all of

         24  these on at the same time the way you did, but you

         25  succeeded in making me feel old.
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          2                 First of all, Langston Hughes is one

          3  of the first poets that I remember studying when I

          4  was in school, and when I had to think back how many

          5  years ago that was, that started to make me feel

          6  old.

          7                 Secondly, I had the privilege of

          8  knowing Gene McCabe, and from work that we had done

          9  in the health care industry.  Council Member

         10  Robinson and I were very active in the struggle to

         11  save Interfaith Hospital, and we watched with great

         12  envy as Gene McCabe worked a miracle up in Harlem

         13  and so any time that we recognize somebody that you

         14  knew on a personal basis in this type of a memoriam,

         15  it makes you feel old.

         16                 And finally, recognizing the

         17  sacrifice that Michael Griffith had made, I think is

         18  something that has got to make anybody who lives in

         19  New York feel old, that the notion that a young man

         20  who was killed basically because of his race, and

         21  within the memory of everyone in this room, when we

         22  reflect on that, makes us realize how far we have to

         23  go and hopefully the placement of the street name in

         24  recognition will inspire other people to be more

         25  sensitive to the things that divide us and the ways
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          2  that we can be brought together.

          3                 So, I withdraw my request, I vote

          4  aye, in the affirmative, on all of the items.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: In the future,

          6  would you please not refer to age?

          7                 Thank you.

          8                 Continue, please.

          9                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Robinson.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBINSON: Mr.

         11  Chairman, may I be excused to explain my vote?

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Yes, you are

         13  excused.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBINSON: I, too,

         15  would like to vote in the affirmative on all of

         16  these, and to ask that my name be added to where it

         17  is not currently present.

         18                 But I also would like to make a

         19  comment on the Michael Griffith street naming. I

         20  have known the family for several years because they

         21  are members of the same church that I attend. And

         22  so, all of the events and activities surrounding

         23  whatever went on with the Michael Griffith family, I

         24  have been present through the years with them, and

         25  having Mrs. Griffith to come to my office and talk
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          2  with her and work with her children through this

          3  time, I certainly think that it is appropriate that

          4  we should do this so that all of our children would

          5  be able to be mindful of what hatred is all about,

          6  and begin for our children, in fact the neighborhood

          7  where it is located is not far from a complex called

          8  Albany Houses where there is a lot of conflict going

          9  on with our young people joining gangs and et

         10  cetera, hopefully this might be able to serve as an

         11  example, to talk about let's get it together in some

         12  way.

         13                 In addition, I would like to also

         14  comment on Eugene McCabe, who I have known through

         15  time, and as Council Member Fisher said in regards

         16  to how he was building up North General Hospital.

         17  But not only the hospital aspect of it, Eugene

         18  McCabe, as a person, a human being, a man of great

         19  stature and one that always had a good word to say,

         20  and I just want to say to his family that we loved

         21  and appreciated Eugene McCabe, even though we were

         22  in Brooklyn and he was up in Harlem, we loved and

         23  appreciated him for who he was, and what he was

         24  attempting to do.

         25                 And, of course, to Livingston
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          2  Wingate, who is like you say, the man that never

          3  retired, I see him in Brooklyn, now he is in Harlem

          4  and he is just a person, a renaissance man for all

          5  seasons I would dare to say, and of course to all of

          6  those others that I did not know personally, but it

          7  is fitting and proper that we should name the Plaza,

          8  St. Patrick's Plaza, also the Triangle, for Barnett

          9  Newman.

         10                 And of course, Langston Hughes Walk,

         11  that is fitting and proper that we extend that as

         12  well.

         13                 Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         15  much.

         16                 Continue.

         17                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Provenzano.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Aye on

         19  all.

         20                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Reed.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Aye on all.

         22                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Golden.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Aye on all.

         24  And Mr. Chairman, thank you for a great meeting, and

         25  love, healing, peace, and God. You did a great job
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          2  today. Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

          4  much.

          5                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: By a vote of

          6  seven in the affirmative, none in the negative, with

          7  no abstentions, all items are approved.

          8                 Please sign the report.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

         10                 Before we adjourn, a fax came in from

         11  a Francine Gray, in support of the Barnett Newman

         12  Intro and we will put this on the record please now.

         13                 Thanks, Frank, for being with us.

         14                 So that I will be able to sleep

         15  tonight and not be bothered by my young friend, who

         16  is a little taller than I am, is there anything you

         17  have to say, Bill?

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Well, you

         19  know, I always have something to say. Let me just

         20  say real quickly, you reminded me of a memory of

         21  Gene.

         22                 Gene was a runner, a jogger, and he

         23  ran the marathon, and I will be running a marathon

         24  this weekend, and surely I will have him on my mind.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Amen.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

          4  much.

          5                 Bill is a newlywed and so is our

          6  photographer. Dan, I must say that marriage is

          7  agreeing with you, brother. You look better. You

          8  look handsome. You are all right. Now, the truth of

          9  the matter is, Dan, that I hadn't planned to mention

         10  that, but I had noticed it, and I observed it.

         11                 Thank you all for coming. And on the

         12  record, he has not gained weight.

         13                 Thank you all for coming, and I would

         14  like for those of you who would like to take a

         15  picture with the Council members who are desirous of

         16  being in the picture, just meet with us, please. The

         17  photographer will tell us where. Our weight loss

         18  photographer will tell us where we shall assemble.

         19                 Thank you very much, and thank you,

         20  Mr. Golden, for your kind words. We stand adjourned.

         21  God bless you. Love each other.

         22                 (The following written testimony was

         23  read into the record.)

         24

         25  Testimony of:
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          2  Francine du Plessix Gray

          3  RE: Barnet Newman

          4

          5                 Barnett Newman was the quintessential

          6  New Yorker. He could guide you to every historic

          7  street, every fine building. His knowledge of the

          8  City's past events and its contemporary significance

          9  was deep in his heart, and he expressed that

         10  knowledge with profound passion. He needed to be in

         11  the city, surround by it all the time, to do the

         12  extraordinary work he achieved. New York's vitality,

         13  its crackling energy, and, yes, a sublime vision of

         14  its inspired him.

         15                 When Barney and Annalee came to visit

         16  us in Connecticut he brought with him country

         17  apparel that he had obviously just bought for the

         18  strange event of a rural weekend. But he remained

         19  his marvelous collected self even in plaid shorts or

         20  bathing trunks still the New York City intellectual

         21  spreading his own intense aura, his unique brand of

         22  wisdom and wit.

         23                 We assume that New York City misses

         24  his presence as much as we do. What a fine occasion

         25  it would be to walk down a street in this City named
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          2  after him. Great museums around the world have

          3  collected his paintings and sculpture, only New York

          4  can claim the streets where he conceived them. It

          5  would be true justice if the City he loved could

          6  return that honor.

          7                 (Hearing concluded at 2:20 p.m.)
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          1

          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 4th day of November 1999.

         20
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                                   ---------------------

         25                          CINDY MILLELOT, CSR.
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          9            I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified Shorthand

         10  Reporter and a Notary Public in and for the State of

         11  New York, do hereby certify the aforesaid to be a

         12  true and accurate copy of the transcription of the

         13  audio tapes of this hearing.
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